

The Limits of Our Knowledge: Tracking the Size and Scope of Police Involvement with Persons with Mental Illness

March 2021



An RSC Policy Briefing

The Limits of Our Knowledge: Tracking the Size and Scope of Police Involvement with Persons with Mental Illness

An RSC Policy Briefing

Authors

Laura Huey	Western University		
Lorna Ferguson	Western University		
Adam D. Vaughan	Texas State University		
Peer Review Monitor			
Tom Marrie, FRSC	Dalhousie University		
Peer Reviewers			
Martin Andresen	Simon Fraser University		
Jennifer Lavoie	Wilfrid Laurier University		

Suggested citation for Policy Briefing Report

Huey, L., Ferguson, L., Vaughan, A.D., *The Limits of Our Knowledge: Tracking the Size and Scope of Police Involvement with Persons with Mental Illness.* Royal Society of Canada. 2021

Land Acknowledgement

The headquarters of the Royal Society of Canada is located in Ottawa, the traditional and unceded territory of the Algonquin Nation.

The opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the Royal Society of Canada.

Background on the Policy Briefing Report Process

Established by the President of the Royal Society of Canada in April 2020, the RSC Task Force on COVID-19 was mandated to provide evidence-informed perspectives on major societal challenges in response to and recovery from COVID-19.

The Task Force established a series of Working Groups to rapidly develop Policy Briefings, with the objective of supporting policy makers with evidence to inform their decisions.

About the Authors

Laura Huey, Professor of Sociology, Western University

Lorna Ferguson, PhD Student, Western University

Adam D. Vaughan, Assistant Professor, School of Criminology & Criminal Justice, Texas State University

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	4
ntroduction	7
A Warning: The Challenges of Working with Police Data	7
Mental Health as 'Police Property'	9
Public Safety	10
Mental Health Apprehensions (MHAs)	10
Wellness Checks, Suicides, and Possible Suicides	11
Missing (Absconding from Facilities)	12
Crime Prevention and Response	13
As Victims	13
As Suspects—Crime and Disorder	14
Previous Research Attempts at Estimating Mental Health Prevalence Rates in	
Police Calls	16
Police Attempts at Estimating Prevalence Rates	17
COVID-19 and Mental Health Calls to Police	18
What is Known About PMI Who Come into Contact with Police	19
A Special Consideration: Indigenous Communities and Indigenous Policing	21
Summary	24
Recommendations	24
References	26

Executive Summary

Following protests of police involvement in several high-profile deaths of individuals experiencing a mental health crisis, a number of Canadian individuals and groups have advocated in response for various policy positions—ranging from enhanced police training and new policing programs to reallocating police funding to healthcare and social work groups and, in some instances, outright abolishment of public police. Consistently lacking from much of the public discourse is a thorough understanding of the myriad of ways in which policing intersects with mental health issues, the prevalence of mental health issues within police calls for service, the nature of interactions between persons with mental illness (PMI) and police, and the unique challenges in this area facing Indigenous communities in Canada.

The purpose of the present working paper is to begin to flesh out those areas in which we have some knowledge of this topic, as well as identify key areas in which little is known. The structure of this working paper is as follows. First, we speak to the challenges researchers face in trying to use existing data sources to develop estimates of the size and scope of mental health-related demands upon police. Then, we begin to explore the various intersections of policing and mental health. Where possible, we use police figures to highlight the volume of service calls for different types of interactions. Third, we look at previous attempts by researchers at estimating the overall prevalence of mental health-related calls in policing, noting both the strengths and limitations of previous work. We also consider what recent police statistics may add to the discussion, before presenting some recent data on police calls for service during the COVID-19 pandemic. Next, our focus then shifts to what the research can tell us about police interactions with PMI, before examining the important topic of Indigenous communities and the challenges faced by Indigenous police services, particularly those in rural and remote areas. Finally, based on an analysis of the data and research gathered, we present a series of recommendations for policy-makers and practitioners.

We are still in the early stages of understanding how resulting economic, social, community and familial disruptions and fractures have and will continue to influence the use of policing as a response to individuals in crisis. Given the enormous strains the COVID-19 pandemic is placing on different segments of the population—particularly those who are among our most vulnerable, including the economically disadvantaged, Indigenous communities, and members of other racialized groups—combined with the fact of the already over-burdened healthcare systems in Canada, this is clearly an area that requires surveillance. Unfortunately, as we have documented throughout this report, Canada is currently ill-prepared to take on this vital work because of a lack of standardized approaches to data collection and reporting systems in police services. To improve our knowledge base—and thus support the goal of evidence-based policies in such a critical area of public concern—Canadians will have to consider supporting strategies for improving the collection and use of policing data at provincial and national levels.

Recommendations

Recommendation #1—Provinicial data capturing standards

Developing provincial frameworks for police services to improve data accuracy and more consistently capture the nature of policework with PMI. A primary consideration will be to ensure

that the data is captured consistently across police services. For example, all police services should be using MHAs as a conservative proxy for measuring the number of PMI police calls for service. In this case, the definition of a mental health event is provided by the provincial mental health legislation. Capturing patient or subject level information could also be extracted from police data sources though these data will not likely be as consistent as aforementioned MHA-derived data. To improve data quality and consistency, police services should consider establishing various standards for how to document PMI in their data. Hartford et al., (2005) provides a framework for identifying PMI cases as definite, probable, and possible. A similar approach could be used for range of estimation values in a Province.

Recommendation #2—Improve data sharing

Efforts should be made to enhance information sharing on PMI **between both local and regional police services**. The transient nature of some PMI is likely to result in neighbouring police services interacting with the same subset of individuals. Sharing information across services may enhance understanding and help officers in their interactions. Additionally, improving data sharing between police and health services is recommended to conduct further research on policing PMI, bring about effective ways to collaborate on this matter, and connect both social services together to engage in evidence-informed prevention and reduction strategies. To connect this back to the common theme throughout this report that we simply do not know much about PMI and policing, improving data sharing between police services and between police and health services serves as a means to build capacity to conduct research and enhance the knowledge base on this matter.

Recommendation #3—PMI data analysis

Police administrators should require civilian analysts to study the nature of PMI within police databases. Crime analysts are likely to be knowledgeable on how to query, analyse and report on patterns in their jurisdictions for scheduled reports as well as ad-hoc reports at the request of their supervisors. The analytic skills that many civilian crime analysts possess may be extended to PMI interactions with the police at both the subject level (e.g., EDP) and at the event level (e.g., MHAs). Aggregate information produced should be publicly available in annual reports. That being said, without improving data capturing and data sharing, PMI data analysis is not likely to be helpful as it would be upon the foundation of poor or inadequate data. Therefore, fulfilling this recommendation hinges upon achieving better data capturing practices and improved data sharing amongst local and regional police services, as well as health services.

Recommendation #4—Research collaboration

To address emerging issues or those that require additional expertise, research collaborations between police and universities/colleges/other expert groups is likely to assist in the understanding of the factors correlated with police interactions with PMI. Areas of research may include rigorous and externally evaluated studies of policing programs that are intended to respond to PMI in the community. Alternatively, scholars could explore the intersection between different community groups, police response, and mental health, with a particular emphasis on those groups experiencing various forms of marginalization. Such knowledge recognizes that that PMI-police interactions are multifaceted and should aid in the development of culturally appropriate and inclusive policing approaches. The federal government should provide long-term funding to aid in the development of such work.

Recommendation #5—Task force on Indigenous communities, Indigenous policing, and mental health.

More knowledge is needed to more fully understand the issues related to police mental health responses within Indigenous communities. Working closely with Indigenous communities, the federal government should create a task force to study this area for the future development of culturally- and contextually appropriate responses.

The Limits of Our Knowledge: Tracking the Size and Scope of Police Involvement with Persons with Mental Illness

Introduction

Following protests of police involvement in several high-profile deaths of individuals experiencing a mental health crisis, a number of Canadian individuals and groups have advocated in response for various policy positions—ranging from enhanced police training and new policing programs to reallocating police funding to healthcare and social work groups and, in some instances, outright abolishment of public police. Consistently lacking from much of the public discourse is a thorough understanding of the myriad of ways in which policing intersects with mental health issues, the prevalence of mental health issues within police calls for service, the nature of interactions between persons with mental illness (PMI) and police, and the unique challenges in this area facing Indigenous communities in Canada.

The purpose of the present working paper is to begin to flesh out those areas in which we have some knowledge of this topic, as well as identify key areas in which little is known. The structure of this working paper is as follows. First, we speak to the challenges researchers face in trying to use existing data sources to develop estimates of the size and scope of mental health-related demands upon police. Then, we begin to explore the various intersections of policing and mental health. Where possible, we use police figures to highlight the volume of service calls for different types of interactions. Third, we look at previous attempts by researchers at estimating the overall prevalence of mental health-related calls in policing, noting both the strengths and limitations of previous work. We also consider what recent police statistics may add to the discussion, before presenting some recent data on police calls for service during the COVID-19 pandemic. Next, our focus then shifts to what the research can tell us about police interactions with PMI, before examining the important topic of Indigenous communities and the challenges faced by Indigenous police services, particularly those in rural and remote areas. Finally, based on an analysis of the data and research gathered, we present a series of recommendations for policy-makers and practitioners.

A Warning: The Challenges of Working with Police Data

The present evidence review draws heavily upon police data analyzed by two separate sources: academic researchers and Canadian police services. Before we begin this review, we need to highlight some of the significant challenges researchers face when it comes to working with police data. To do that, it might be helpful to first explain a little bit about how police data are produced.

Police services use multiple data capture and analysis tools. Most relevant to our work in the Canadian context are Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) programs and Record Management Systems (RMS). When a call for service is generated through emergency communications, call details are logged by a dispatcher and this basic information is relayed to responders. Details tracked include the time, date, location of the incident, incident type and any particulars provided by the caller. Depending on the nature of the event, responding officers can provide more details as to the call particulars and then, for calls dealt with informally, 'clear' the CAD call from the system, thereby closing it. Alternatively, if information needs to be tracked, further investigation

or the deployment of other police resources is required, or a criminal case needs to be logged, the officer files a separate report in the agency's RMS.

In theory, RMS data contain more information than CAD data about the details of a call. For example, a RMS will typically require an officer to fill out detailed information on the incident particulars—including, although not always correctly, an individual's age, ethnicity, health factors, and so on-and this has the potential to be very useful for research. In reality, though, RMS data quality is often riddled with duplicate entries and missing information (Huey, Koziarski and Ferguson in review). Compounding these data quality issues is the lack of uniformity of definitions, terms, and reporting methods across and within police services (Sinha 2009; e.g., Ferguson and Picknell in review). RMS are also difficult to work with from a research standpoint because they are designed for police use and not for easy extraction and research use. Each report will have an UCR code¹ attached as the primary call type (such as 'assault' or 'theft under 5000'). To find out whether there was a mental health component to the call requires a police service to utilize a mental health 'flag' in their data. Until fairly recently, this was not routinely performed by many services and, as a result, researchers would have had to access case synopses to find that information (e.g., Schulenberg 2016). The inability to easily extract calls for service with a mental health component represents a significant limitation in terms of our ability to gain a more accurate understanding of the impacts of mental health issues on police calls for service. To illustrate, as researchers, we approached six police departments across Canada and found that only one routinely flags mental health calls in RMS data. Of those that do not, we can include the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP). In their most recent report it was observed that,

when it comes to mental health occurrences, this data does not represent all RCMP interactions with individuals suffering from mental illness. Some occurrences may be filed as an assault, a weapons complaint, a suspicious occurrence, or noise complaint as a result of someone shouting, for example. The language used by complainants, witnesses, family members, or the subject of the complaint varies. For these reasons, not all incidences of mental health-related calls for service may be captured in police RMS as mental health-related (RCMP 2020).

As we noted, to fill in some of the gaps in our knowledge of police contacts with PMI, we also draw on statistics reported by police services across Canada in their annual reports. Using keyword searches², we reviewed 80 police websites to locate 19 annual reports containing statistics related to mental health and, where relevant information was presented, included that information here³ ⁴. However, as Boyce and colleagues (2015) observe that, as a result of the lack of standardized data collection and reporting mechanisms (beyond the UCR system), there is no standardization in terms of what gets reported in annual reports or how it is reported, rendering it difficult to not only understand what is being reported, but moreover to do effective comparisons across jurisdictions.

This lack of standardized terms to reference is a significant challenge in this area of policing research. The absence of consistent terminology/nomenclature leads to quantitatively and

3 These are listed in the references.

¹ To note, UCR codes represent the "most severe" crime, and so mental health could be an underlying and direct issue, but not the most severe criminal issue that occurred. This being said, mental health-related calls are often underestimated within UCR data.

² Keywords searched include 'mental health,' 'mental illness,' 'distress,' 'crisis,' and 'crisis team,' among others.

⁴ A limitation of the present study is we were not able to issue requests for the annual reports of the 200+ police services across Canada.

qualitatively different lenses being used to understand police interactions with PMI both across and within jurisdictions. For example, our search terms for the present study includes the keyword "crisis" and "crisis team" which is likely to encompass those incidences where provincial/territorial legislation has been used to detain a patient for medical evaluation at a designated facility. Of course, the same patient may have additional interactions police services (perhaps even on the same day) whereby they are identified as having a mental illness by police but that during their interaction, the patient was not in a state of crises. Our approach to use a broad array of search terms enables us to include relevant research to this area of policing but that within these studies, we recognize there will be differences in how the interaction between police and PMI will be documented. Another significant problem in relation to relying on criminal justice data to enhance our understanding of justice-involved PMI is its lack of diverse and inclusive information on a range of demographic and other variables, such as race and ethnicity, that would provide more indication of the extent and scope of this issue. For instance, writing some 20 years ago, Wortley (1999) observed the existence of what he termed an 'informal ban' among police services on the creation of race-based data. This gap in our knowledge, he contends, means that we know very little about different phenomena that affect diverse communities, and how best to develop and test solutions including to issues of over-representation (Wortley and Tanner 2003; Wortley and Owusu-Bempah 2012). Moving ahead to 2020, we note that most, if not all, police services collect race/ethnicity-based data in their RMS records. That data has not, however, been part of the UCR shared with Statistics Canada and released publicly. This fact is about to change, though, as a move to include race- and ethnicity-based statistics in the UCR was announced in 2020 (Tunney 2020).

All of the above being said, the absence of available national and regional information on policeinvolved PMI and police calls for service involving PMI necessitates that we can only use what is presently available in an attempt to provide an understanding of this matter. Put another way, the limitations of police data aside, there is still value in utilizing these data as a means to advance our knowledge of PMI involvement with police as long as we recognize its constraints in the information and conclusions it can offer. Throughout the following sections, police data is relied upon only as a means to contribute to this conversation. We recognize that the above limitations are present in these data, and as so are cognizant of the fact that we simply cannot offer definitive conclusions on this topic without further investigation and addressing an array of recommendations (of which are present at the end of this document). This being said, without using such data, we would have no starting points to bring about an initial, base of awareness on this pervasive matter.

Mental Health as 'Police Property'

Much has been written on the role of de-institutionalization, changes in mental health legislation, and the lack of coordinated community services and supports for those with serious mental health disorders, so these issues need not be rehashed here (e.g., lacobucci 2014; Cotton and Coleman 2010). Our focus instead is on the narrower question of the ways in which the management of mental illness has become a criminal justice matter, one requiring police response. In this section we explore two aspects of the police role and mandate that bring police officers into contact with individuals dealing with mental health disorders. Although the governing legislation for police officers in each of the Canadian provinces and territories employs variations on how these roles

are framed, we have identified them as *public safety* and *crime prevention and response* (e.g., Schulenberg 2013).

Public Safety

Under public safety, we identify three ways in which police interact with PMI: 1. Conducting apprehensions under provincial and territorial mental health legislation; 2. Investigating reports of PMI who have been reported missing from home, shelters, or from hospitals or in-patient facilities; and 3. Conducting wellness checks, including responding to reports of individuals who are at risk of suicide.

Mental Health Apprehensions (MHAs)

Provincial and territorial legislation sets out powers of apprehension that permit police officers to take someone into custody for the purposes of escorting them to the nearest designated psychiatric facility for assessment. Little is known about police decision-making with respect to decisions to effect a mental health apprehension. One of the few Canadian studies to explore this phenomenon found that two sets of concerns inform police decision-making: whether the individual meets the criteria for civil commitment and lack of alternate available resources for someone in crisis and potentially at risk (Schulenberg 2016). In relation to both, officers interviewed expressed frustration over what they saw as stringent commitment criteria that often left them with little alternative but to either arrest someone "for their own good" or release an "at risk" individual⁵ (ibid.).

Provincial and territorial mental health legislation also creates a mandated role for police to apprehend PMI who are under a warrant or other authorization ordering them to be apprehended and transported for assessment, examination, and/or treatment. In British Columbia (B.C.), for instance, police may be called upon to bring someone to a facility for an assessment under a Form 4. In Ontario and Alberta, these are known as Form 1s. These are typically situations in which someone is already under some form of community treatment order, but who has not complied with treatment demands. When that happens, mental health professionals call upon police to respond. In one study, Honer et al. (2017: 489) observed that "approximately 20% of apprehensions involved patients with more than 1 apprehension per year" and concluded this fact "is an indication of poor effectiveness of clinical and service delivery." An earlier study observed that only 6.3% of interventions were initiated by hospital staff (Charette et al. 2011). A more recent evaluation of the Saskatoon Police Service's (SPS) Police Crisis Team found that 11% of calls received were for apprehensions under the provincial Mental Health Act initiated by healthcare providers (SPS 2019). Similarly, the Vancouver Police has reported that 26% of their mental healthrelated calls for service were from healthcare or social work staff requesting police assistance (Vancouver Police Department [VPD] 2020).

As these types of calls for service are typically grouped under 'mental health' occurrences, it is difficult to know the overall volume of such calls. That said, we have tried to gain some sense of the overall volume of MHAs conducted by police services. We looked to police sources, searching

⁵ Also known to influence this decision-making is bed capacity at these facilities.

the websites of 81 different Canadian police services⁶ for annual reports for the year 2019, or, if not available, for 2018. Some of what we were able to glean is presented in Table 1 below. Unfortunately, what is not clear is the extent to which these are MHAs based on an officer's field-based judgment⁷ versus the exercise of a warrant issued by a judge or healthcare professional. Nonetheless, we can see from the limited available information on MHAs that their percentages in relation to all calls for service generally varies by service but often accounts for fewer than 2% of service calls at these agency's.

Police Service Report	MHAs	Total Calls for Service	MHAs % of all calls
Toronto Police (2019)	13000 ⁸	679000	1.90%
Port Hope Police (2020)	43	5128	0.84%
Aylmer Police (2020)	23	3405	0.68%
RCMP (2020)	88460	3000000	2.94%
Saint John Police (2020)	500	58158	0.86%

Table 1: Mental Health Apprehensions (MHAs)

Wellness Checks, Suicides, and Possible Suicides

Wellness checks, also referred to as 'well-being checks' or 'compassionate to locate' calls, are calls for service in which police are asked to verify the safety and well-being of an individual for whom someone is concerned. These are one of the call types that can have a mental health component. Previous research has, for example, documented police attendance at calls with individuals threatening self-harm or experiencing possible thoughts of suicide (Wilson-Bates 2008; Schulenberg 2016; Shore and Lavoie 2020). In some instances, the latter is coded as 'suicide threat' or 'suicide' within police data, but we have also observed instances where the primary code was 'missing' (if the person had left the residence) or 'wellness check' (if they had not). Although a wellness check may occur for reasons related to a mental health issue, we must be aware of the limitations of relying on this data. Wellness checks can also occur if someone has physical health problems or may be the victim of an accident, among other reasons. With this significant limitation in mind, we present data below on the volume of wellness checks observed within the available annual police reports (see Table 2).

⁶ Of these, we identified 14 annual reports that contained some information on mental health calls and apprehensions that contained useful information for reporting here. In some instances—such as with Indigenous police services—we present that information elsewhere. In other cases, the information was provided in a confusing way; for example, in graph form without numbers or using undefined terms like 'mental health files' without specifying if flags were used to include cases where the primary code was something else. These issues, are of course, part and parcel of what we are bringing to light throughout this report.

⁷ It is unclear from the available data whether these numbers represent when a police officer invokes the Mental Health Act to apprehend someone.

⁸ The volume cited was "just under 13000". Unfortunately, no specific figure was provided or could be located.

Police Service	Wellness Check	Total Calls for Service	Wellness Checks % of all Service Calls
Niagara Regional	11015	130462	8.40%
Waterloo Regional	18501	301771	6.10%
Shelburne	28	6480	0.43%
Guelph	3988	73923	5.39%

Table 2: Wellness Checks

Where data on reports of possible suicide or attempted suicide and/or suicidal ideation or behaviour existed in the annual reports examined, we also include those figures below (Table 3).

Table 3: Suicide-Related Calls

Police Service	Suicide Threat	Total Calls for Service	Suicide Threat % of all Service Calls
South Simcoe	122	29780	0.40%
Chatham-Kent	462	67075	0.69%

With there being such few agency's represented in both Table 2 and Table 3, we cannot say much about the findings on wellness checks and suicide-related calls. Ultimately, this area represents another matter related to PMI and persons experiencing crisis involvement with police requiring further investigation. In order to begin to understand this matter and develop research from which sound policy and practice can be drawn, much more information is needed.

Missing (Absconding from Facilities)

Each year, hundreds of thousands of Canadians are reported missing to police (Statistics Canada 2018). This is hardly a homogenous group, and previous research has well documented the variety of factors that contribute to this phenomenon (Hirschel and Lab 1988; Taylor et al. 2019). In this section, we focus solely on individuals with serious psychiatric illnesses who have absconded from forensic and/or other healthcare facilities. When such individuals leave or otherwise fail to return to a healthcare setting (such as failing to return after a cigarette break outside the facility), it is a common practice in most, if not all, Canadian jurisdictions for a police report to be filed. In provinces such as B.C., legislation dictates that such a report will be treated as a high priority call ('person at risk' or 'high-risk'), necessitating urgent police response.

Information on the prevalence of absconding cases among missing persons reports is not readily available. Fortunately, we can refer to some recent Canadian research, which used closed police files to look at various aspects of missing persons cases. For example, in one recent study, approximately 11.5% of those reported missing to a municipal police service were found to have absconded from a hospital or mental health facility (Ferguson and Huey 2020). In this study, the strongest predictors of absconding were cognitive impairment, substance dependency, and mental health issues (ibid.). A follow-up study examined the demographic, health and other risk profiles of those who abscond from hospitals and mental health facilities, finding that individuals with schizophrenia and/or dementia were more likely to abscond from long-stay mental health facilities, whereas those diagnosed with depression or bipolar disorders were more frequently

reported missing from emergency psychiatric units at hospitals (Ferguson in review). In terms demographic factors, White males were the most frequent absconders from both settings; however, Indigenous patients were over-represented in relation to absconding at 9.7% of the total sample (ibid.). Conversely, Black patients and individuals from other racial or ethnic groups were significantly less likely to abscond from these locations (ibid.)⁹.

In another study using the same dataset, researchers identified adults and youth with histories of repeatedly being reported missing (Huey and Ferguson 2020). Armed with this information, they then looked at the locations from which 'repeat missing people' are most likely to abscond. They found that for adults, the top five locations included three health facilities and two homeless shelters/mission centers, thus indicating that individuals under MHAs not only abscond, but some do so repeatedly (ibid). In terms of the rate at which such individuals are reported missing, we have little go on. An earlier study found that within a one-year span, 230 individuals under MHAs were reported missing to police from two Vancouver area hospitals (Thompson 2015).

Crime Prevention and Response

As Victims

Given the fact that vulnerable groups are at increased risk of victimization, it is imperative that we note that many PMI come into contact with police as victims of a crime (Brink et al. 2011; Frederick et al. 2018). In contrast to several international studies which highlight that factors such as substance use, homelessness that are likely to increase the rate of victimization in PMI (Hiday et al. 1999), this area has not received a significant amount of attention in Canada. One Canadian study of 547 individuals with mental illness found that they had experienced 518 formal contacts with police, of which 213 were as a result of some form of victimization (Koyoumdijian et al. 2019). Similarly, a study of homeless citizens across five Canadian cities found that those with a diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and/or substance dependence disorder were at an increased risk of victimization (Edalti et al. 2017). Such results align with findings from other countries that have identified mental illness as a significant risk factor for victimization over an individual's life course (Choe et al. 2008; Maniglio 2009). Summarizing nine epidemiological studies, Latalova and colleagues (2014:1925) state, "patients with severe mental illness are more likely to be violently victimized than other community members." This finding is echoed the Vancouver Police Department's Mental Health Strategy (2020:9), in which they observe that PMI "are often targeted by offenders—resulting in them being 15 times more likely to be the victim of a crime, and 23 times more likely to be the victim of a violent crime."¹⁰ Put another way, analysis by Burczyka (2018) from data from the 2014 General Social Survey (GSS) resulted in a finding of "one in ten (10%) people living with a mental health-related disability report[ing] having been the victim of violence in the preceding 12 months". This figure is contrasted to a rate of violent victimization of "1 in 33 people with no such condition" (ibid.).

⁹ These findings are based upon police data, which, as explicitly outlined in the beginning of this report, present several limitations, especially in relation to race-/ethnicity-based data. This is discussed in the limitations of this study, but is important to mention here for context on the limitations of these findings. Notably, race-based police data is often inaccurate and, therefore, the reality of this could be much different than what is discussed here. The study highlights that future research is necessary, and so we reiterate that further investigation into this would be useful to advance our understanding on these issues and this connection.

¹⁰ Conclusions within the VPD (2020) report on PMI being victims of crime are drawn from primarily descriptive analyses and examinations of victimization rates. As such, these findings should be interpreted with caution. Nonetheless, they represent a finding reiterated across similar research and highlight the pattern of PMI experiences with victimization.

One consideration with respect to victimization is the potential unwillingness of victims to come forward to report their victimization to the police from fear of not being believed. Research with victims who are homeless indicates this is a strong concern (Huey and Quirouette 2009). Drawing on the GSS, Burczyka (2018) noted that "individuals with mental health-related disabilities were less likely to report their victimization to the police (22% versus 31%). Among those who did, levels of satisfaction with police action were similar to those reported by victims with no such condition." This research suggests a need for sensitive approaches to understanding and addressing this phenomenon.

As Suspects—Crime and Disorder

One aspect of criminal offending that has drawn some research attention is in the area of violent behaviours. With mental illness not likely to lead to violence and crime (Stuart 2003), other risk factors (which also exist in non-PMI cohorts) should be considered. In their seminal work Monahan and colleagues (2001) highlight that through computationally combining a variety of clinical information, five risk classes explain the vast majority of violence of PMI who were recently discharged into the community. Pertinent factors for predicting the five risk classes include: the patients demographic and clinical information (e.g., substance use), prior arrests, child abuse, underlying psychiatric diagnosis, and information surrounding their father.

Though the merits of clinical work surrounding risk assessment are important in terms of understanding re-offending patterns and developing risk assessment tools, the police will also be called upon to respond to calls in which PMI are the subject of disorder complaints or suspects in crimes. While it is commonly recognized that PMI are more likely to have multiple police contacts, the research suggests that mental health status is not treated by arresting officers as a significant criminogenic factor (Vaughan et al. 2015; see also Schulenberg 2016). Indeed, three separate studies have indicated that when "PMI do offend, they are arrested for the same reasons as other offenders" (Vaughan et al. 2015: 122; see also Schulenberg 2016). The Schulenberg study (2016: 470), that examined police decision-making in cases involving PMI interactions, found that officers are "2.1 times more likely to criminally charge a citizen" in cases involving a more serious offense, suggesting that the perceived seriousness of the alleged conduct has the strongest influence on arrest and charge decisions (see also Charette et al. 2014). A recent study by Shore and Lavoie (2020) offers support for this contention: they found that only 5% of police interactions with PMI resulted in arrests (ibid.), suggesting that most offenses were minor in nature as police are less likely to exercise discretion over more serious allegations (see also Lemieux and Leclair 2020). That said, a recent report by the Vancouver Police (2020) observed that 12% of mental healthrelated calls for service involved a PMI with a weapon.

For those patients who come to police attention, many do so sometimes as a result of engaging in violent behaviour, from uttering threats to displaying a weapon to acts of physical aggression (Stuart and Arboleda-Florez 2001). In some instances, police are mobilized by healthcare professionals as a result of threats or an actual assault (i.e., physical). One of the first studies to explore violence against healthcare workers was a survey of 136 Canadian psychiatry residents which found that approximately 40% had been physically assaulted by a patient (Chaimowitz and Moscovitch 1991). Subsequent research in other countries has produced similar results (Schwartz and Park 1999; Basfra, Hamdan and al-Habib 2019; see also Baby, Glue, and Carlyle 2014). Among these, is a survey of 513 United States (U.S.) psychiatric residents in which 73% reported being threatened, and 36% physically assaulted (Schwartz and Parks 1999).

In relation to the more general calls for service, a study by Shore and Lavoie (2020) found that of 400 PMI police interactions, some form of violent behaviour towards others was observed in 11% of incidents and weapons were present during 16% encounters. Research on police responses to these acts varies. When such individuals do come to police attention, research suggests that "their charge profile [is] similar to that of offenders without mental illness" insomuch as they are "not more likely [than non-PMI] to be charged with a minor offense" (Stuart and Arboleda-Florez 2001: 658). Notably, Charette et al. (2014) found the reverse: that PMI with minor offenses were more likely to be arrested, but that this did not hold true for more serous offenses. The explanation they provide is individual demeanour: the more 'difficult', 'uncooperative' or 'aggressive' the individual appeared, the more likely they were to be arrested independently of their mental health status (ibid.).

Other research has looked at the degree to which violent flags in Canadian Police Information Centre (CPIC) files is predictive of PMI behaviour during police contact. In Schulenberg's (2016) sample, it was found that PMI had more than twice the number of flags for violent behaviour than non-PMI offenders. This would seem to indicate higher levels of violence in PMI who come into contact with police. However, a study by Hoch et al. (2009) revealed that a violence flag is often not a good predictor of whether an individual will be violent in a given situation. They found that some individuals without violent flags were violent, whereas others (approximately 59% of the sample) whose files contained such flags were not. In other cases, where police had had multiple contacts with someone who had engaged in violent behaviour (20.7% of the sample), previous violent behaviour was not flagged in the system (Hoch et al. 2009). In short, these flags can, and do, fail to provide reliable information.

It is commonly suggested that PMI are likely to be the subject of complaints or concerns surrounding disorder or involved in minor offences, such as vandalism or theft of property, and thus come to police attention this way and to be charged accordingly. However, the available research in this area is not at all clear. A recently released study by Lemieux and Leclair (2020) of justice-involved homeless citizens with mental illness observed that the most frequent offenses for which these individuals were charged included thefts (29%), administration of justice offenses (23%) (such as breaches of probation or parole), and assaults (14%). These results led the researchers to conclude that impoverished PMI are more likely to "engage in property and acquisitive offenses as a means" of survival" (ibid.: 800). Similarly, Kouyoumdjian and colleagues (2019) observed that, among their sample of homeless PMI who had been charged with an offense, approximately one in five charges were for administration of justice offenses and one in eight were related to what they term "an act of living" (ibid.: 723). However, the Charette (2014: 513) study, which used both a sample of PMI and a control group, found that police interventions involving PMI "were less likely ... to be categorized as offenses against property" and a study of charge rates for PMI by Hoch et al. (2009) noted that 21% of charges were for crimes against property, whereas 29% of charges were for crimes against the person. Ultimately, across the existing Canadian literature, understanding the quantity and quality of complaints, disorder, and minor offences that police respond to that involve PMI vary considerably. However, what we can conclude is that administrative and non-violent events represent a considerable number of points in time where police services will intersect with PMI as suspects in the community (Vaughan et al. 2016).

Previous Research Attempts at Estimating Mental Health Prevalence Rates in Police Calls

When it comes to estimating the extent to which Canadian police are dispatched, summoned, or proactively engage in service calls involving individuals with a mental illness, estimates vary. For ease of reading, we present these estimates in Table 4 below.

Study	Methods	Estimate of Mental Health Calls as % of all Service Calls	
Hartford et al. (2005)	Retrospective observational study involving administrative police data	Less than 1%	
Vaughan et al. (2016)	Secondary data analysis from a medium-sized city in Canada	2.02%	
Charette et al. (2014)	Retrospective analysis of police interventions	4.4%	
Brink et al. (2011)	Focus groups, in-depth interviews, and surveys with PMI	5.0%	
Crocker et al. (2009)	Descriptive analyses of police administrative data from the London Police Service	6.0%	
Cotton and Coleman (2008)	Questionnaires and interviews with police personnel	7.0-15.0%	
Vaughan and Andresen (2019)	Administrative data analysis from municipal police services in BC	15.0%	
Boyce et al. (2015)	Self-report data extracted from the Canadian Community Health Survey	18.8%	

Table 4: Previous	Prevalence	Estimates fro	om Canadian	Researchers
	i i c vaiciice			Acocal chief of

Why is it so difficult to have a clear-cut answer as to how prevalent mental health issues are in relation to police calls for service? One obvious answer is difficulties with how police data is collected and used, as previously mentioned. Another factor to consider is the nature of the data researchers have used and the assumptions made with respect to that usage. For example, the Charette (2014) study drew on data from only three days of police reports in 2006. The overall sample size was, therefore, relatively small and subsequent research has shown that calls for service involving mental health issues can cluster both temporally and spatially (Vaughan et al. 2018; Koziarski forthcoming). This means that dates selected might not be representative—in essence, that cross-sectional research designs may not be suitable for understanding this phenomenon. In the section on strengths and limitations of police data, we provided a detailed discussion of the challenges with relying on police data to draw conclusions on the overall volume of calls that have a mental health component. Problems with how police have historically recorded data has clearly created methodological issues for previous researchers, which is likely reflected in the range of prevalence rates-from an estimated 1% to 30%. A third important factor is that mental health prevalence rates will vary to some extent by location, as a result of, among other things, population characteristics and the ability of PMI to access services.

Another area of possible contention is whether police contacts with individuals with mental illness are increasing (Coleman and Cotton 2014). Certainly, this has been a consistent claim of police/

police services. In its 2018 annual report, the Ontario Provincial Police (2018) stated they had an approximate annual increase of 10% in their volume of mental health occurrences, an increase they stated was consistent over the previous two years. In less precise terms, Laval Police (2020) noted "in 2019, the volume of disturbed mental state events responded to by our patrollers reached 1,941, the highest number in the past five years." Other police services reporting similar increases include Timmins, Chatham-Kent, and Camrose. Some studies support these claims (see Heslop et al. 2011). For example, in a 2019 study, Vaughan and Andresen found that calls for service involving PMI were increasing each year by some 9.7% among police services in B.C. What cannot be said from these studies, though, are the suspected reasons behind the potential increase in police contacts with PMI. Indeed, definitional changes and awareness of the issue by police officers may or may not be at play here, but, alternatively, it could be due to social changes, population growth, and other macro and micro impacts unrelated to (yet impacting) policing. As such, and to connect to it being of contention, pinpointing whether police contacts with PMI are, in fact, increasing is not possible at this time based on the available information.

Police Attempts at Estimating Prevalence Rates

As we noted, one of the ways in which we tried to overcome these challenges was by reaching out to police services that routinely flag mental health-related calls regardless of the UCR or dispatch code assigned. We did this keeping in mind the limitations associated with relying on flag use as a proxy for 'mental health.' These mental health flags are reported in Table 5 below with a comparison to the total number of calls for service at each agency.

Police Service	MH Flags	Total Calls for Service	% in Relation to Total Calls for Service
Ontario Provincial Police	18000	1,138,468	1.58%
Chatham-Kent Police	1191	67075	1.77%
Saint John Police	1625	58158	2.79%
Thunder Bay Police	1929	54464	3.54%
Vancouver Police	13592	265,000	5.12%
St Thomas Police	1228	20089	6.11%
Port Moody Police	612	7695	7.95%
North Bay Police	5178	30947	16.73%

Table 5: Calls for Service in Which 'Mental Health' (MH) was Flagged

As can be seen in Table 5, there is variation in the percentages across the police services that flagged mental health-related calls. The large dispersion across the percentage of mental health flags could represent the following: 1) what is captured across police services as a mental health-related flag greatly varies, and so the percentages are reflective of service-by-service data capturing procedures, 2) awareness levels of mental health-related calls for service varies, pointing out the

need for greater understanding on this matter, and/or 3) mental health-related flags may fluctuate according to other factors not captured by this procedure. Ultimately, we do not know what is interplaying in this variation, highlighting another policing area warranting attention in future research. What can be said, though, is that there are no systematized way that police officers and/ or services define what a 'mental health flag' means operationally and when they should place the flag on the system.

Other than what is included within Table 5, the RCMP (2020) recently released their statistics on 'mental health occurrences' across each of the provinces and territories, including those for which the RCMP is not contracted as a provincial or a municipal service. They reported more than 123,000 'mental health occurrences' out of approximately 3 million calls for service (ibid.). As with many other police agencies, the RCMP does not flag mental health-related calls when the primary call purpose is something else (such as an assault or theft) (ibid.), thus this figure is not reported above.

In relation to prevalence rates, one area that remains underexamined is the extent to which some individuals at increased risk of experiencing crisis may generate multiple calls for service. We were able to locate one police service that reported this figure. In 2020, Timmins Police observed that of 656 'Mental Health Act' calls received, 348 incidents involved PMI who had generated 2 or more calls.

COVID-19 and Mental Health Calls to Police

We were fortunate to be able to access a recently released report from Statistics Canada (2020) on police calls for service during the early part of the COVID-19 pandemic (March 2020 to June 2020 in Canada). Calls for service data were collected from 17 police services across Canada, including data on 'mental health apprehensions', 'mental health—other', 'suicide/attempted suicide', and 'welfare check'. One significant drawback of using these figures is they are not parsed out based on the police services selected, so regional or other variations cannot be noted. Further, as we found ourselves when looking at mental health statistics across police service reports, variations exist in how different types of calls for service are categorized that render it difficult to provide accurate counts. Statistics Canada issues a stark warning: "interpret calls for service data with caution" (ibid.: 3). That said, we reproduce selected figures below in Table 6.

Table 6: Cross-Sectional Snapshot of Mental Health Calls for Service During the COVID-19
Pandemic from Statistics Canada (2020) Report

Call type	Mar-June 2019	Mar-June 2020	% Change
Mental Health Apprehension	10,529	10,822	2.8
Mental Health—Other ¹¹	13,759	15,223	10.6
Suicide/Attempted Suicide	10,744	9,734	-9.4
Check Welfare—General	13,711	15,294	11.5

^{11 &#}x27;Mental Health—Other' is not defined within the Statistics Canada (2020) report, so we are unable to deduce what this call type is referring to from the available information, aside from it relating to mental health.

Examining the above figures provides an interesting perspective in that we have a snapshot of possible changes in both mental health rates due to COVID-19, as well as in resulting demands for increased police service. To note, though, it only offers a potential glimpse of the COVID-19 pandemic impacts on mental health demands on police with respect to public safety, but not on crime.¹² A year-over-year comparison would seem to be useful as it is unlikely that changes to call coding among individual police services would have occurred, thereby skewing the results. Ultimately, a key takeaway from this snapshot from Statistics Canada (2020) is that COVID-19 may have impacted mental health calls for service. That being said, we also urge some caution here: most researchers would require several years of historical data to rule out the possibility of increases or decreases not being the result of normal fluctuations over time.

What is Known About PMI Who Come into Contact with Police

A consistent finding across several Canadian studies is that certain socio-demographic groups are over-represented in analyses of police contact with PMI. One of those groups is homeless citizens; a not entirely surprising finding for several reasons. One factor is that individuals without permanent shelter are more likely to be visible in public spaces, and thus are seen as a sign of social disorder and reported to police for 'status offenses' (Huey 2007). Relatedly, individuals without sustainable shelter and income are also more likely to engage in survival offenses, such as petty thefts (Schulenberg 2016). Another factor is that homeless populations often have higher rates of mental disorders and substance abuse. For example, in a Quebec study of individuals using homeless services, researchers found that 72% of their sample had experienced a significant mental illness in the preceding year (Bonin, Fournier and Blais 2007). Similarly, a study in Vancouver of residents of the city's impoverished Downtown Eastside found an association between poverty and emergency room visits related to mental illness and substance abuse was seen in the majority of cases involving homeless citizens who not only came into contact with police but did so at a "higher rate of police contact than other PMI" (Schulenberg 2016: 476).

While we have focused primarily here on police contacts with PMI who are also homeless, it is important to keep in mind that research has consistently found that PMI—whether housed or not—are more likely to have police contact than those without a mental illness. To illustrate, the 2012 Canadian Community Health survey found that 34.4% of PMI or individuals with substance dependency reported at least one police contact within the previous year (Boyce et al. 2012). This figure is twice the rate of those without a mental illness or substance dependency (ibid.). The authors of the resulting report observed that, among the general public, "the presence of a mental or substance use disorder was associated with increased odds of coming into contact with police, even after controlling for related demographic and socioeconomic factors" (ibid.: 18).

Another matter is the use of force in police arrests and apprehensions. Although it has been reported that fewer than 1% of contacts with police result in the use of force (Adams 1999; Baldwin et al. 2019), PMI have reported experiencing some level of force, from being pushed or punched to having a baton used or conducted energy weapon deployed while being apprehended (Livingston et al. 2014). One Ontario agency, the Durham Regional Police Service (2018) has begun collecting use of force statistics related to incidents involving individuals apprehended under the provincial

¹² While further discussing this is beyond the scope of the current study, research by Hodgkinson and Andresen (2020) on changes in the frequency of criminal justice incidents during the COVID-19 pandemic offers some insights on crime.

Mental Health Act. The rationale for including this metric is that the organization committed to reducing the number of use of force incidents involving MHAs and have been documenting the results of this effort.

Who initiates police calls for service regarding PMI? To date, little Canadian research has explored this question or the dynamics that led to a request for police intervention. One of the few studies that has explored this phenomenon found that PMI were among those mostly likely to initiate an intervention (21%), followed by a relative (20%) or bystander (19.5%) (Charette et al. 2011). In the previously cited evaluation of its police crisis team, the Saskatoon Police collected the following information on where such calls originated. They found that of those calls that came through dispatch, 42% (n=191) were initiated by family members or friends, whereas approximately 13% (n=60) were self-initiated (SPS 2019). An Ontario-based study found "the most common initiator of police–PMI contact was a service provider (i.e., paramedic, community mental health worker, school or hospital staff, or the police officer themselves) (29%)" (Shore and Lavoie 2020: 162). Other initiators included family members or friends (28%), a bystander (27%), and the PMI themself (16%) (ibid.).

If Canadian research on PMI contacts with police is generally scarce, this is doubly the case in relation to police contacts with individuals with mental illness who are also members of minority and/or marginalized groups. We can assume that such contacts among, for example, racialized persons are increasing based on recent research that shows a "steady increase in forensic admissions" in Ontario from 1987 to 2012 of "individuals with of non-Caucasian ethno-racial background" (Penney et al. 2019: 635). One of the few studies to look specifically at the ethnic composition of a sample of PMI who have come into contact with police found that 14% were non-White (Shore and Lavoie 2020). As these scholars note, ethnic minorities comprise only 10% of the population in the area studied (ibid.). They also note a finding that we believe requires substantially more research to thoroughly understand and unpack the underlying dynamics: analysis of their data revealed that PMIs who were White were 6.6 times more likely to receive a community health referral from attending police officers than PMI from an ethnic minority group (ibid.). That said, even less is known about other groups, particularly in relation to police contacts with PMI from the LGBTQ2IS+ community. This lack of research is critical to highlight because it reduces our ability to craft thoughtful, culturally appropriate, and inclusive approaches to addressing any both current and potential issues.

When it comes to police-involved shootings, a recent report of the Office of the Independent Police Review Director (OIPRD) states "we cannot ignore the fact that, in many of these cases, the deceased was Black or a person of colour" (McNeilly 2017: 4). The report then notes, "it is unknown exactly how many civilians killed by the police in Ontario have been Black or of colour as no agency maintains race-based statistics on this issue" (ibid.). Attempts have been made to catalog (CBC News 2017) and describe unique predictors of police-involved fatalities of PMI (Ouellet 2019). Problems with case inclusion criteria have been noted in the literature (Prevett 2018). A more recent effort is currently underway by researchers at Carleton University. Unfortunately, preliminary results were not available at the time of writing. That said, we were able to locate Coroner's inquest records¹³ for the provinces of Ontario and B.C. for police-involved

¹³ Both provinces have legislation that mandates an inquest in cases involving police-related fatalities (or, to use the Coroner's term, 'homicides').

shootings for the period of 2003 to 2019¹⁴. Data from this source—cross-checked against news reports—provides some basic information regarding race/ethnicity¹⁵, gender and age of PMI who died in a police-involved shooting¹⁶.

Of the 34 Coroner's Inquest cases selected for analysis¹⁷, 21 were from Ontario and 13 from B.C.¹⁸ The gender composition of this sample comprised one female and 33 males, with an average age was 36 years. In terms of the racial or ethnic makeup of PMI in the cases analyzed, 23 were identified as White (67.6%), five as Black (14.7%), four as Indigenous (11.7%), one as Middle Eastern (2.94%) and one as Asian (2.94%). As with previous research (see McNeilly 2017), we observe that Black individuals (14.7%) were—relative to their representation in the larger population—disproportionately represented in our findings, as were Indigenous persons. We also note—in line with Shore and Lavoie's (2020) findings—that 32% of this sample were persons of colour. While our sample is too small from which to draw significant conclusions and contains several limitations, we do see the utility in drawing attention to this phenomenon and the limits of current knowledge.

A Special Consideration: Indigenous Communities and Indigenous Policing

In this section we pay particular attention to the policing of Indigenous communities for two important reasons. The first is the unique history of Indigenous peoples in Canada and the resulting social, cultural, and economic devastation of colonialism and the role that both the criminal justice and healthcare systems have played in that devastation—along with continued discrimination and structural inequities, among other impacts—and in responses to its subsequent impacts on Indigenous peoples (Razack 2015; McCallum and Perry 2018). One of these impacts, for example, is the overrepresentation of Indigenous peoples in the criminal justice systems. While this is not a matter specific to the Canadian context¹⁹ (Cunneen 2014), it is important when recognizing Canada's history related to Indigenous peoples. The second reason is centered on a distinctive feature of the Canadian policing landscape: The First Nations Policing Program, a federal program establishing and funding Indigenous policing services across Canada with comparable mandates and powers as municipal police agencies. These two factors, both individually and combined, create enormous challenges for Indigenous communities, as we discuss here.

The history of colonization and the resulting cultural fractures and individual and collective trauma forced on victims, families and communities through such colonization projects as the residential schools, reserve system, and the 1960s scoop are well-known. We see this trauma reflected in high rates of mental disorders, suicide, substance dependency, and homelessness, among other tragic

¹⁴ To be clear: although Coroner's Inquest reports are a reliable source of data in that these are legislated events with publicly available reports, one significant limitation is that they can often occur several years after a death. As an example, the Coroner's inquest into the death of Sammy Yatim (2013) was not called until 2019. As of November 2020, it had yet to be held.

¹⁵ We left out any cases in which race/ethnicity was unknown or where it was unclear if the individual had a mental disorder.

¹⁶ Another limitation of this work is that we focused on police-involved shootings ('homicides'), which excludes police-involved deaths that were ruled 'accidental', 'natural' and so on. Simply put, that level of analysis—although much needed—was beyond the scope of what we could reasonably accomplish for this report.

¹⁷ The inclusion criterion was a case in which the decedent was reported as having a mental illness.

¹⁸ In the interests of transparency, the cases selected were the following. In Ontario: Divers, Cole, Loku, MacIsaac, Doucette, Clausse, Carby, Gray, Kim, Eligon, Roke, Klibingaitis, Jardine-Douglas, Jones, Heagle, Schaeffer, Petralia, Debassige, Steacy, Graham and Christopher-Reid. In BC: Mutch, Woods, Bayrami, Ray, Matters, Barnes, Wilcox, Welton, Hubbard, Hughes, George, Boyd, and Klim.

¹⁹ Other areas Indigenous peoples are overrepresented in the criminal justice systems are the known settler societies of Australia, North America, and New Zealand, for instance.

effects (Wilk, Maltby, and Cooke 2017; Curran et al. 2018; Pearce et al. 2018). In one recent study, researchers found that "Indigenous ethnicity was independently associated with being homeless at a younger age, having a lifetime duration of homelessness longer than 3 years, PTSD, less severe mental disorder, alcohol dependence, more severe substance use in the past month and infectious disease" (Bingham et al. 2019:1). Indigenous persons, particularly Indigenous women, are also at increased risk of violent victimization relative to the general population, a fact which also contributes to ongoing trauma, emotional distress and/or worsening of pre-existing mental health issues (ibid.; RCMP 2015; Sochting et al. 2007). Sexual and other forms of violent victimization of women in other populations has shown to be tied to repeat cycles of homelessness, which is also an important consideration (Broll and Huey 2020).

Compounding the problems Indigenous PMI face are issues with the Canadian healthcare system. It has frequently been suggested in popular media that social workers and healthcare professionals should be utilized as frontline response to calls involving those in emotional or mental crisis. Such calls ignore the historic and contemporary reality of many Indigenous peoples, who have experienced racism and other forms of marginalization within the health care system (Allan and Smylie 2015; McCallum and Perry 2018; Browne et al. 2016), as well as in relation to dealing with the social workers through social service provisions and/or child welfare systems (McCauley and Mathison 2018). Other barriers to healthcare include limited resources in rural and remote communities, and structural problems for Metis and non-status Indigenous peoples with the provision of health care benefits (Lavoie 2013; Allan and Smylie 2015). In relation to the former, a Health Canada report (2015: 30-31) on the healthcare challenges experienced by Indigenous communities observed that "the [northern] territories rely heavily on provincial health systems for services they are unable to provide, particularly for treatment of acute mental illness and tertiary care. As a result of this, the continuum of care is disrupted, which creates significant challenges that exacerbate mental illnesses." Lack of access to mental health treatment leaves members of rural and remote Indigenous communities feeling "frustrated and helpless with the prevalence of depression and suicide and their limited means to address it" (Curran et al. 2018: 7).

When it comes to the policing of Indigenous communities, there are two systems: one for those persons 'off-reserve', who are policed by provincial, municipal or regional services along with the rest of the population, and those 'on-reserve'. The latter may be policed through arrangements with a provincial police agency²⁰ or through their own service established under the First Nations Policing Program (FNPP). The FNPP was instituted in 1992 to provide opportunities for Indigenous communities to set up their own services under local authority with funding support from the federal government. We could not determine the exact number of these services in operation today because several do not maintain a social media space or have disbanded (Kiedrowski, Jones, and Ruddell 2016). Still, according to a 2017 study of Indigenous policing, the researchers observed that 453 communities in Canada are policed by a service established through the FNPP (ibid.).

Far too little is known about Indigenous policing in Canada. In 2020, one of the authors observed that there were only eight published, peer-reviewed research studies on the Indigenous policing (Huey 2020). One of the few exceptions is work by Kiedrowski, Jones, and Ruddell (2017) who conducted a survey of Indigenous police services to explore their strengths and challenges.

²⁰ To avoid confusion: the RCMP is a federal service but is contracted to provide provincial policing in most of the provinces and territories. When we discuss provincial policing, we are discussing policing under provincial contract.

What they documented was a system in which these services were chronically underfunded, struggled to meet local demands, faced difficulties in recruitment and retention, and several other challenges, leading the researchers to conclude that these agencies had been 'set up to fail'. Among the issues with which FNPP officers had to grapple with were significant rates of mental health disorders emerging in disproportionately high levels of suicide within their communities, substance dependency, and violence (ibid.; see also Curran et al. 2018).

We are fortunate in that, as part of their survey of FNPP officers, Kiedrowski et al. (2017) examined issues related to police mental health responses within Indigenous communities. They detailed that there were several major challenges, including high rates of mental health-related calls and lengthy distances to transport individuals detained under provincial mental health acts, which put additional pressures on under-resourced services (ibid.). Another challenge cited was inadequate training in crisis response and community mental health, a training deficit which forces police members to try to identify external resources.

In our search of police annual reports for statistics related to mental health calls for service, we located 16 Indigenous police services online. Of these, five provided some statistical information on mental health-related occurrences, of which is contextualized with information on their location and population size served (see Table 7).

Police Service	Location	Population Size Served (Approx.)	Mental Health- Related Occurrences	Total Calls for Service	% of all calls
Akwesasne Mohawk Police	Akwesasne, QC	12,315	18 ²¹	3113	0.57%
Anishnabek Police	Kettle Point, ON	8,100	21222	12292	1.70%
Blood Tribe Police ²³	Stand Off, AB	12,000	13324	6762	1.90%
Stl'atl'imx Tribal Police	Lillooet, BC	6,250	77 ²⁵	1751	4.40%
Nishnawbe Aski Police	Sandy Lake, ON	45,000	830 ²⁶	18516	4.50%
Treaty 3 Police	Kenora, ON	20,000	582 ²⁷	9108	6.30%

Table 7: First Nation Police Service Statistics on Mental Health Calls

21 Just listed as 'mental health' occurrence without any further details.

- 22 This figure is listed under 'Mental Health Act.'
- 23 These figures were provided through personal correspondence with the Blood Tribe Police Service.
- 24 This figure is listed as 'Mental Health Act'.
- 25 This figure is listed under 'Mental Health Act.'
- 26 This figure includes: 370 MHAs, 154 suicides and 306 suicide threats.
- 27 This figure is listed as 'Mental Health Act'.

Summary

We are still in the early stages of understanding how resulting economic, social, community and familial disruptions and fractures have and will continue to influence the use of policing as a response to individuals in crisis. Given the enormous strains the COVID-19 pandemic is placing on different segments of the population—particularly those who are among our most vulnerable, including the economically disadvantaged, Indigenous communities, and members of other racialized groups—combined with the fact of the already over-burdened healthcare systems in Canada, this is clearly an area that requires surveillance. Unfortunately, as we have documented throughout this report, Canada is currently ill-prepared to take on this vital work because of a lack of standardized approaches to data collection and reporting systems in police services. To improve our knowledge base—and thus support the goal of evidence-based policies in such a critical area of public concern—Canadians will have to consider supporting strategies for improving the collection and use of policing data at provincial and national levels.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are based on the preceding review of the research evidence, as well as on those critical gaps we have identified.

Recommendation #1—Provinicial data capturing standards

Developing provincial frameworks for police services to improve data accuracy and more consistently capture the nature of policework with PMI. A primary consideration will be to ensure that the data is captured consistently across police services. For example, all police services should be using MHAs as conservative a proxy for measuring the number of PMI police calls for service. In this case, the definition of a mental health event is provided by the provincial mental health legislation. Capturing patient or subject level information could also be extracted from police data sources though these data will not likely be as consistent as aforementioned MHA-derived data. To improve data quality and consistency, police services should consider establishing various standards for how to document PMI in their data. Hartford et al., (2005) provides a framework for identifying PMI cases as definite, probable, and possible. A similar approach could be used for range of estimation values in a Province.

Recommendation #2—Improve data sharing

Efforts should be made to enhance information sharing on PMI **between both local and regional police services**. The transient nature of some PMI is likely to result in neighbouring police services interacting with the same subset of individuals. Sharing information across services may enhance understanding and help officers in their interactions. Additionally, improving data sharing between police and health services is recommended to conduct further research on policing PMI, bring about effective ways to collaborate on this matter, and connect both social services together to engage in evidence-informed prevention and reduction strategies. To connect this back to the common theme throughout this report that we simply do not know much about PMI and policing, improving data sharing between police services and between police and health services serves as a means to build capacity to conduct research and enhance the knowledge base on this matter.

Recommendation #3—PMI data analysis

Police administrators should require civilian analysts to study the nature of PMI within police databases. Crime analysts are likely to be knowledgeable on how to query, analyse and report on patterns in their jurisdictions for scheduled reports as well as ad-hoc reports at the request of their supervisors. The analytic skills that many civilian crime analysts possess may be extended to PMI interactions with the police at both the subject level (e.g., EDP) and at the event level (e.g., MHAs). Aggregate information produced should be publicly available in annual reports. That being said, without improving data capturing and data sharing, PMI data analysis is not likely to be helpful as it would be upon the foundation of poor or inadequate data. Therefore, fulfilling this recommendation hinges upon achieving better data capturing practices and improved data sharing amongst local and regional police services, as well as health services.

Recommendation #4—Research collaboration

To address emerging issues or those that require additional expertise, research collaborations between police and universities/colleges/other expert groups is likely to assist in the understanding of the factors correlated with police interactions with PMI. Areas of research may include rigorous and externally evaluated studies of policing programs that are intended to respond to PMI in the community. Alternatively, scholars could explore the intersection between different community groups, police response, and mental health, with a particular emphasis on those groups experiencing various forms of marginalization. Such knowledge recognizes that that PMI-police interactions are multifaceted and should aid in the development of culturally appropriate and inclusive policing approaches. The federal government should provide long-term funding to aid in the development of such work.

Recommendation #5—Task force on Indigenous communities, Indigenous policing, and mental health.

More knowledge is needed to more fully understand the issues related to police mental health responses within Indigenous communities. Working closely with Indigenous communities, the federal government should create a task force to study this area for the future development of culturally- and contextually appropriate responses.

References

Adams K. 1999. 'What We Know About Police Use of Force,' in Travis, J., Chaiken, J., and Kaminski, R. (eds). Use of Force: Overview of National and Local Data. Report of the U.S. Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington, DC, BJS.

Allan B, and Smylie J. 2015. First Peoples, Second Class Treatment: The Role of Racism in The Health and Well-Being of Indigenous Peoples in Canada. The Wellesley Institute, Toronto, Canada.

Allen D, Harris F, and de Nesnera A. 2014. Nurse-Police Coalition: Improves Safety in Acute Psychiatric Hospital. Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services, 52(9): 27-31.

Baby M, Glue P, and Carlyle D. 2014. Violence is Not Part of Our Job: A Thematic Analysis of Psychiatric Mental Health Nurses' Experiences of Patient Assaults from a New Zealand Perspective. Issues in Mental Health Nursing, *35*(9): 647–655.

Baldwin S, Hall C, Blaskovits B, Bennell C, Lawrence C, and Semple T. 2018. Excited Delirium Syndrome (Exds): Subject and Officer Risk Factors in Non-Fatal Use of Force Encounters. International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 60:26-34.

Basfra W, Hamdan A, and Al-Habib S. 2019. Workplace Violence Against Nurses in Psychiatric Hospital Settings: Perspectives from Saudi Arabia. Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal, 19(1): e19–e25.

Bingham B, Moniruzzaman A, Patterson M, Sareen J, Distastio J, O'Neil J, and Somers J. 2017. Gender Differences Among Indigenous Canadians Experiencing Homelessness and Mental Illness. BMC Psychology, 7(57): 1-16.

Bingham B, Moniruzzaman A, Patterson M, Distasio J, Sareen J, O'Neil J, and Somers J. 2019. Indigenous and Non- Indigenous People Experiencing Homelessness and Mental Illness in Two Canadian Cities: A Retrospective Analysis and Implications for Culturally Informed Action. BMJ Open, 9(4): 1-10.

Bonin J, Fournier L, and Blais R. 2007. Predictors of Mental Health Service Utilization by People Using Resources for Homeless People in Canada. Psychiatric Service, 58(7):936-41.

Bourget D, el-Guebaly N, and Atkinson M. 2002. Assessing and Managing Violent Patients. Canadian Psychiatric Association Bulletin, 34: 25–27

Boyce J, Rotenberg C, and Karam M. 2012. Mental Health and Contact with Police in Canada [online]: Available from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2015001/article/14176-eng.htm.

Brennan S. 2009. Violent victimization of Aboriginal women in the Canadian provinces, 2009. Juristat, Catalogue no.: 855-002-x [online]: Available from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/85-002-x/2011001/article/11439-eng.pdf?st=gWCHgGWR

Brink J, Livingston J, Desmarais S, Greaves C, Maxwell V, Michalak E, Parent R, Verdun-Jones S, and Weaver C. 2011. A Study of How People With Mental Illness Perceive and Interact With The Police. Mental Health Commission of Canada [online]: Available from http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca.

Broll R, and Huey L. 2020. 'Every Time I Try to Get Out, I Get Pushed Back': The Role of Violent Victimization in Women's Experiences of Multiple Homelessness. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 35(17-18): 3379-3404.

Browne A, Carcoe C, Lavoie J, Smye V, Wong S. (and others). 2016. Enhancing Health Care Equity with Indigenous Populations: Evidence-Based Strategies from An Ethnographic Study. BMC Health Services Research, 6: 544.

Burczyka M. 2018. Violent Victimization of Canadians With Mental Health-Related Disabilities, 2014, Juristat Report: 85-002-x [online]: Available from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2018001/article/54977-eng.htm.

CBC News. 2017. Deadly Force: Fatal Encounters with Police: 2000-2017 [online]: Available from https://newsinteractives.cbc.ca/ longform-custom/deadly-force

Chaimowitz G, and Moscovitch, A. 1991. Patient Assaults on Psychiatric Residents: The Canadian Experience. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 36(2):107-111.

Coleman T, and Cotton D. 2010. Reducing Risk and Improving Outcomes of Police Interactions with People with Mental Illness. Journal of Police Crisis and Negotiation, 10(1-2): 39-57.

Coleman T, and Cotton F. 2014. TEMPO: Police Interactions A Report Towards Improving Interactions Between Police and People Living With Mental Health Problems, Report of the Mental Health Commission of Canada [online]: Available from www. mentalhealthcommission.ca.

Cotton D, and Coleman T. 2008. A Study of Police Academy Training and Education for New Police Officers Related to Working with People with Mental Illness, Report for the Mental Health Commission of Canada and the Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police, Ottawa. [online]: Available from https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/document/438/study-police-academy-training-and-education-new-police-officers-related-working-people-.

Crocker A, Hartford K, and Heslop L. 2009. Gender Differences in Police Encounters Among Persons with and without Serious Mental Illness. Psychiatric Services, 60(1): 86–93.

Charette Y, Crocker A, and Billette I. 2011. The Judicious Judicial Dispositions Juggle: Characteristics of Police Interventions Involving People with a Mental Illness. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 56(11): 677-685.

Charette Y, Crocker A, and Billette I. 2014. Police Encounters Involving Citizens With Mental Illness: Use of Resources and Outcomes. Psychiatric Services, 65(4): 511-516.

Choe J, Teplin L, and Abram K. 2008. Perpetration of Violence, Violent Victimization, and Severe Mental Illness: Balancing Public Health Concerns. Psychiatric Services, 59:153–164.

Cunneen C. 2014. Colonial processes, Indigenous peoples, and criminal justice systems. The Oxford handbook of ethnicity, crime, and immigration, pp. 386-407.

Curran J, Ritchie S, Beardy J, VanderBurgh D, Born K, (and others). 2018. Conceptualizing and Managing Medical Emergencies Where No Formal Paramedical System Exists: Perspectives from a Remote Indigenous Community in Canada. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(2): 267.

Desmarais S, Livingston J, Greaves C, Johnson K, Verdun-Jones S, (and others). 2014. Police Perceptions and Contact Among People With Mental Illnesses: Comparisons with a General Population Survey. Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 20(11): 431-442

Edalti H, Nicholls T, Crocker A, Roy L, Somers J, (and others). 2017. Adverse Childhood Experiences and the Risk of Criminal Justice Involvement and Victimization Among Homeless Adults with Mental Illness. Psychiatric Services, 68(12): 1288-1295.

Ferguson L, and Huey L. In press. Who Is Reported Missing from Canadian Hospitals and Mental Health Units? An Exploratory Study. *Policing: An International Journal*.

Ferguson L, and Picknell W. Under Review. Repeat or Chronic? Examining Police Data Accuracy Across the 'History' Risk Classifications of Missing Persons Cases. *Policing & Society*.

Frederick T, O'Connor C, and Koziarski J. 2018. Police Interactions with People Perceived to have a Mental Health Problem: A Critical Review of Frames, Terminology, and Definitions. Victims & Offenders, (13)8: 1037-1054.

Gupta S, Akyuz E, Flint J, and Baldwin T. 2018. Violence and Aggression In Psychiatric Settings: Reporting to The Police. British Journal Psychiatry Advances, 24(3): 146-151.

Health Canada. 2015. First Nations Mental Wellness Continuum Framework, Ottawa, ON, Health Canada [online]: Available from https://thunderbirdpf.org/first-nations-mental-wellness-continuum-framework/.

Heslop L, Stitt L, and Hoch J. 2011. *Trends in Police Contact with Persons with Mental Illness*. London, Ontario: London Police Service, [online]: Available from http://capg.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/Trends-in-Police-Contact-with-Persons-with-Mental-Illness-Report-for-LPSB-2013.pdf.

Hirschel J, and Lab S. 1988. Who is Missing? The Realities of The Missing Persons Problem. Journal of Criminal Justice, 16(1): 35-45,

Hoch J, Hartford K, Heslop, and Stitt L. 2009. Mental Illness and Police Interactions in a Mid-Sized Canadian City: What the Data Do and Do Not Say. Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health, 28(1): 49-66.

Hodgkinson T, and Andresen MA. 2020. Show me a man or a woman alone and I'll show you a saint: Changes in the frequency of criminal incidents during the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Criminal Justice, 69: 101706.

Honer W, Cervantes-Larios Jones, A, Vila-Rodriguez F, Montaner J, Tran H, Nham, J, (and others). 2017. The Hotel Study— Clinical and Health Service Effectiveness in a Cohort of Homeless or Marginally Housed Persons. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 62(7): 482-492.

Huey L. 2007. Negotiating Demands: The Politics of Skid Row Policing in Edinburgh, San Francisco and Vancouver. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, Canada.

Huey L. 2020. Reality Check: Indigenous Policing Research [online]: Available from Ihuey.net.

Huey L, Ferguson L, and Kowalski L. 2020. The Power Few of Missing Persons Cases. Policing: An International Journal, 43(2): 360-374.

Huey L, Koziarski J, and Ferguson L. In review. The Irrationalities of Rationality in Police Data Processes. Theoretical Criminology.

Huey L, and Quirouette M. 2009. Access to Justice as a Component of Citizenship: Reconsidering Policing Services for Canada's Homeless [online]: Available from http://ir.lib.uwo.ca/sociologypub/10.

Iacobucci F. 2014. Police Encounters with People in Crisis, Independent Review for the Toronto Police Service [online]: Available from https://www.torontopolice.on.ca/publications/files/reports/police_encounters_with_people_in_crisis_2014.pdf

Kiedrowski J, Petrunik M, and Ruddell R. 2016. Illustrative Case Studies of First Nations Policing Program Models, Ottawa, ON, Public Safety Canada [online]: Available from https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/2016-r014/index-en.aspx.

Kouyoumdjian F, Wang R, Mejia-Lancheros C, Owusu-Bempah, Nisenbaum R, (and others). 2019. Interactions between Police and Persons Who Experience Homelessness and Mental Illness in Toronto, Canada: Findings from a Prospective Study. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 64(10):718-725.

Koziarski J. Forthcoming. Examining the Spatial Concentration of Mental Health Calls for Police Service in a Small City. *Policing:* A Journal of Policy and Practice

Latalova K, Kamaradova D, and Prasko J. Violent Victimization of Adult Patients With Severe Mental Illness: A Systematic Review. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, 10: 1925-1939.

Lavoie J. 2013. Policy Silences: Why Canada Needs A National First Nations, Inuit And Métis Health Policy. International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 72: 1-7.

Lemieux A, and Leclair M. 2020. A Typology of Lifetime Criminal Justice Involvement Among Homeless Individuals with Mental Illness: Identifying Needs to Better Target Intervention. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 10(1-2): 39-57.

Liegghio M, and Jawal P. 2015. Police Encounters in Child and Youth Mental Health: Could Stigma Informed Crisis Intervention Training (CIT) for Parents Help?. Journal of Social Work Practice, 29(3): 301-319.

Livingston J. 2016. Contact Between Police and People with Mental Disorders: A Review of Rates. Psychiatric Services, 67(8): 850-857.

Livingston J, Desmarais S, Greaves C, Parent R, Verdun-Jones S, and Brink J. 2014. What influences perceptions of procedural justice among people with mental illness regarding their interactions with the police?. Community Mental Health Journal, 50(3): 281-7.

McCallum M, and Perry A. 2018. Structures of Indifference: An Indigenous Life and Death in a Canadian City. University of Manitoba Press, Winnipeg, MB.

McCauley K, and Matheson D. 2018. Social Work Practice with Canada's Indigenous People: Teaching a Difficult History. *Practice*, 30: 293-303.

McIntyre C, Harris M, Baxter A, Leske S, Diminic S, (and others). 2017. Assessing Service Use for Mental Health by Indigenous Populations in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States of America: A Rapid Review of Population Surveys. Health Research Policy and Systems, 15: 67

McNeilly G. 2017. Police Interactions with People in Crisis and Use of Force, OPIRD Systemic Review Interim Report [online]: Available from https://www.oiprd.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/Police-Interactions-with-People-in-Crisis-and-Use-of-Force-Systemic-Review-Report-March-2017-Small.pdf.

Maniglio R. 2009. Severe mental illness and criminal victimization: a systematic review. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 119: 180–191.

Pearce M, Jongbloed K, Pooyak S, Blair A, Christian W. (and others). 2018. The Cedar Project: Exploring Determinants of Psychological Distress Among Young Indigenous People Who Use Drugs in Three Canadian Cities. Global Mental Health, 5(e35): 1-16.

Penney S, Seto M, Crocker A, Nichools A, Grimbos T, (and others). 2019. Changing Characteristics of Forensic Psychiatric Patients in Ontario: A Population-based Study from 1987 to 2012. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 54(5): 627-638.

Prevett J. 2018. 'Killer Cops: The (Mis) Representation of Police-Involved Deaths, London, Canada, M.A. thesis, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario.

Razack S. 2015. Dying from Improvement: Inquests and Inquiries into Indigenous Deaths in Custody. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, Canada.

Schulenberg J. 2016. Police Decision-Making in the Gray Zone: The Dynamics of Police–Citizen Encounters with Mentally III Persons. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 43(4): 459-482.

Schulenberg J. 2013. A View from the Streets: Preliminary Findings. Report to the Waterloo Regional Police Service.

Schwartz T, and Park T. 1999. Assaults by Patients on Psychiatric Residents: A Survey and Training Recommendations. Psychiatric Services, 50(3): 381-383.

Shore K, and Lavoie, J. 2020. Exploring Mental Health-Related Calls for Police Service: A Canadian Study of Police Officers as 'Frontline Mental Health Workers. Policing, 13(2):157-171.

Sinha M. 2007. An Investigation into the Feasibility of Collecting Data on the Involvement of Adults and Youth with Mental Health Issues in the Criminal Justice System, Crime and Justice Research Paper Series, Ottawa, [online]: Available from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-561-m/85-561-m2009016-eng.htm.

Skosireva A, O'Campo P, Zerger S, Chambers C, Gapka S, and Stergiopolous V. 2014. Different Faces Of Discrimination: Perceived Discrimination Among Homeless Adults With Mental Illness In Healthcare Settings. BMC Health Services Research, 14(1): 376.

Sochting I, Corrado R, Cohen I, Ley R, and Brasfield C. 2007. Traumatic Pasts in Canadian Aboriginal People: Further Support for A Complex Trauma Conceptualization?. BC Medical Journal, 49(6): 320-326.

Sowerby A, and Thomas, S. 2017. A Mixed Methods Study of The Mental Health And Criminal Justice Histories of Missing Persons. Police Practice and Research, 18(1): 87-98.

Statistics Canada. 2020. Police-Reported Crime Incidents Down During the Early Months Of The Pandemic, While Domestic Disturbance Calls Increase, The Daily, [online]: Available from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200901/dq200901a-eng.htm

Statistics Canada. 2018. Background – 2018 Fast Fact Sheet, Canada Missing, [online]: Available from http://www. canadasmissing.ca/pubs/2018/index-eng.htm.

Stuart H. 2003. Violence and Mental Illness: An Overview. World Psychiatry : Official Journal of the World Psychiatric Association, 2(2): 121–124.

Stuart H, and Arboleda-Flórez J. 2001. A Public Health Perspective on Violent Offenses Among Persons with Mental Illness. *Psychiatric Services*, *52*(5): 654–659.

Taylor C, Woolnough P, and Dickens G. 2019. Adult Missing Persons: A Concept Analysis. Psychology, Crime & Law, 25(4): 396-419.

Thompson S. 2015. Policing Vancouver's Mentally III: The Disturbing Truth Beyond Lost In Transition, Report for the Vancouver Police Board [online]: Available from https://vancouver.ca/police/assets/pdf/reports-policies/vpd-lost-in-transition-part-2-draft. pdf.

Vancouver Police Department [VPD]. 2020. Our Community in Need: The VPD's Community-Focused Safety Strategies, Report of the Vancouver Police Department, [online]: Available from https://vancouver.ca/police/assets/pdf/reports-policies/our-community-in-need.pdf.

Vaughan A, Hewitt A, Hodgkinson T, Andresen M, and Verdun-Jones S. 2019. Temporal Patterns of Mental Health Act Calls to the Police. Policing, 13(2): 172–185.

Vaughan A, Hewitt A, Andresen M, and Brantingham P. 2016. Exploring the Role of the Environmental Context in the Spatial Distribution of Calls for Service Associated with Emotionally Disturbed Persons. Policing, 10(2): 121-133.

Vaughan A., and Andresen M. 2019. The Cost of Mental Health-related Calls on Police Service: Evidence from British Columbia, in Mitchell, R. and Huey, L (eds.) *Evidence Based Policing: An Introduction*. Policy Press, Bristol, UK. pp. 173-186.

Wilk P, Maltby A, and Cooke M. 2017. Residential Schools and The Effects on Indigenous Health and Well-Being in Canada—A Scoping Review. Public Health Reviews, 38: 8.

Wilson-Bates F. 2008. Lost in Transition: How a Lack of Capacity in the Mental Health System is Failing Vancouver's Mentally III and Draining Police Resources, Vancouver Police Board report, [online]: Available from http://capg.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/VPD-How-a-Lack-of-Capacity-in-the-Mental-Health-System-is-Failing-Vancouver%E2%80%99s-Mentally-III-and-Draining-Police-Resources.pdf.

Winters S, Magalhaes L, and Kinsella E. 2015. Interprofessional Collaboration in Mental Health Crisis Response Systems: A Scoping Review. Disability and Rehabilitation, 37(23): 2212–2224.

Wortley S. 1999. A Northern Taboo: Research on Race, Crime, And Criminal Justice In Canada. Canadian Journal of Criminology, 41(2): 261-274.

Wortley S, and Tanner J. 2003. Data, Denials, and Confusion: The Racial Profiling Debate in Toronto. Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice, 45(3): 367-390.

Wortley S, and Owusu-Bempah A. 2012. Race, Ethnicity, Crime and Criminal Justice in Canada,' in Kalunta-Crumpton, A. (ed.) *Race, Ethnicity, Crime and Criminal Justice in the Americas*. Palgrave Macmillan, London. pp. 11-40.

Zakrison T, Hamel P, and Hwang S. 2004. Homeless People's Trust and Interactions With Police and Paramedics. Journal of Urban Health, 81(4): 596-605.

Police Annual or Other Reports:

Aylmer Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.phps.on.ca/photos/custom/2019%20Annual%20 Report_%20Final.pdf

Camrose Police. 2019. Annual report [online]: Available from https://camrosepoliceservice.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/2018-Annual-Report-PDF.pdf

Chatham-Kent Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from http://www.ckpsannual.com/2015/ewExternalFiles/2019%20 CKPS%20Annual%20Report%20%5BFINAL%5D.pdf

Durham Regional Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://members.drps.ca/annual_report/2019/Annual_ report_2019_WEB.pdf

Guelph Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.guelphpolice.ca/en/about-gps/resources/GPS_AR19_D5.pdf

Laval Police. 2020. Annua report [online]: Available from https://www.laval.ca/police/Documents/rapport-activite-2019.pdf

Niagara Regional Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.niagarapolice.ca/en/who-we-are/resources/2019-ANNUAL-REPORT.pdf

North Bay Police. 2019. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.northbaypolice.ca/assets/pdfs/north-bay-police-2018-annual-report.pdf

Ontario Provincial Police. 2019. Annual report [online]: Available from http://www.opp.ca/index. php?&lng=en&id=115&entryid=5fa9a2b627e0e432601f51c3

Ontario Provincial Police. 2018. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.opp.ca/index. php?&lng=en&id=115&entryid=5d0bdebf241f6e18586f0913

Port Hope Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.phps.on.ca/photos/custom/2019%20Annual%20 Report_%20Final.pdf

Port Moody Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://portmoodypolice.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/2019-PMPD-Community-Report.pdf

Royal Canadian Mounted Police [RCMP]. 2020. RCMP Occurrence Report [online]: Available from https://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/ transparenc/police-info-policieres/calls-appels/occurrence-incident-eng.htm

Royal Canadian Mounted Police [RCMP]. 2015. Missing and Murdered Aboriginal Women: 2015 Update To The National Operational Overview [online]: Available from https://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/wam/media/455/original/c3561a284cfbb9c244bef57750941439.pdf

Saint John Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.saintjohn.ca/site/media/SaintJohn/SJPF-2019-Annual-Report.pdf

St. Thomas Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from http://www.stps.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/STPS-Annual-Report-2019.pdf

Saskatoon Police Service. 2019. Police and Crisis Team One Year Evaluation Report.

Shelburne Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://shelburnepolice.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/2019-Annual-Report-FINAL.pdf

South Simcoe Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://southsimcoepolice.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/southsimcoepolice_annualreport - 2019-july-22.pdf

Thunder Bay Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.thunderbaypolice.ca/reports

Timmins Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from http://www.timminspolice.ca/uploads/2019-Annual-Report-Final-ApprovedK-1.pdf

Toronto Police. 2019. Annual Statistical report [online]: Available from http://www.torontopolice.on.ca/publications/files/ reports/2018statsreport.pdf

Waterloo Regional Police. 2020. Annual report [online]: Available from https://www.wrps.on.ca/en/about-us/resources/Annual-Reports/2018/WRPS-2019-Annual-Report.pdf



The Royal Society of Canada

282 Somerset Street West Ottawa, Ontario K2P 0J6 www.rsc-src.ca 613-991-6990

La Société royale du Canada

282, rue Somerset ouest Ottawa (Ontario) K2P 0J6 www.rsc-src.ca 613-991-6990